
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Gravesham Joint 
Transportation Board 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Wednesday, 16 December 2009 
at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 

 
 
S Kilkie 
Assistant Director (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies   

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meetings  (Pages 1 - 12) 

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what their 
interest is.  

 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public  

 

5. A presentation by Kirstie Horton - Speed Limit Review - Process and 
Programme  

(Pages 13 - 14) 

6. Highway and Transportation Schemes Progress Report 2009/10 - report 
herewith.  

(Pages 15 - 18) 

7. Cross Lane East Experimental No Entry - report herewith.  (Pages 19 - 28) 

8. Manor Road, Gravesend - report herewith.  (Pages 29 - 32) 

9. Footway and Verge Parking - Hall Road, Springhead Road and Old Road 
East - report herewith.  

(Pages 33 - 36) 

10. Proposed traffic order for yellow lines in the turning head of Rose Avenue - 
report herewith.  

(Pages 37 - 38) 

Public Document Pack



11. St. Marks Avenue, Northfleet - report herewith.  (Pages 39 - 42) 

12. Parking Restrictions - Fountain Walk area - report herewith.  (Pages 43 - 46) 

13. Petition, Whitepost Lane - report herewith.  (Pages 47 - 52) 

14. Petition, Harvel Street - report herewith.  (Pages 53 - 58) 

15. Gravesend small cycling improvements - report herewith.  (Pages 59 - 64) 

16. Northfleet - Ebbsfleet station pedestrian links - report herewith.  (Pages 65 - 70) 

17. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the 
Chairman is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

18. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

 

Part B  
Items likely to be considered in Private 

 

None. 
 

 
Members 
 
Cllr Leslie Hills (Chairman) 
County Councillor Michael Snelling (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors: Colin Caller 

Jane Cribbon 
William Dyke 
Sara Langdale 
Leslie Christie (KCC) 
Harold Craske (KCC) 
John Cubitt (KCC) 
Bryan Sweetland (KCC) 
 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 



1 

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
 

Wednesday, 9 September 2009    7.00 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Leslie Hills (Chairman) 
County Councillor Michael Snelling (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors: Colin Caller 

Jane Cribbon 
William Dyke 
Sara Langdale 
Leslie Christie (KCC) 
Harold Craske (KCC) 
Bryan Sweetland (KCC) 
 

 
Note:  Cllrs Tanmanjeet Singh Dhesi, Greta Goatley, Glen Handley, Richard Smith, 
 Makhan Singh and Michael Wenban were also in attendance. 
 
Also in attendance: 
 
Mr R Davis, United Taxi Group 
Inspector Coltham, North Kent Police 
PC Ridley, North Kent Police 
 
Kevin Burbidge Director (Business) 
Paul Gibbons  Service Manager, Parking & Amenities 
Carlie Plowman Committee and Scrutiny Assistant 
Mr P Slaughter Transportation Engineer (KCC) 
Mr A Burton  Highway Schemes Manager (KCC) 
Ms K Prescott  Transportation Engineer (KCC) 

 

 
 
22. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from County Cllr John Cubitt and Ms L Hornby, Shorne 
Parish Council.  
 
23. Minutes   
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 June 2009 were signed by the Chairman. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 2Page 1



CommitteeName  9.09.2009 

2 

24. Declaration of Interests  
 
Cllr Wenban declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 6 – Cross Lane Experimental 
No Entry. Cllr Wenban lives near the area affected by the proposals. 
 
Cllr Goatley declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 6 – Cross Lane Experimental 
No Entry. Cllr Goatley lives near the area affected by the proposals. 
 
Cllr Hills declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 9 – Waiting Restrictions, Various 
Locations (Rochester Road, Gravesend). Cllr Hills is the Ward Councillor for Chalk.  
 
25. Highway Improvement Schemes 2009/2010  
 
Further to minute 5 (17.06.2009), Members received a report detailing the progress of 
highway and transportation schemes in Gravesham. 
 
Members were informed that during June 2009 it became apparent that there was 
insufficient provision in the 2009/2010 budget to meet those costs from the 2008/2009 
programme that had not been paid by 31 March 2009. In order to meet the shortfall part of 
the allocated budget for 2009/2010 has been used. As a result, the delivery of some 
schemes that were due in 2009/2010 have been postponed which include:- 
 

• Hall Road/Colyer Road/Coldharbour Road, Northfleet – Cycle Path; 
• High Street, Northfleet – Conversion of southern footway to shared use cycle path; 
• Wrotham Road, Gravesend – Phase 2 of Gravesend-to-Istead Rise Cycle Route (A2 

to Chalky Bank). 
 

Resolved that the report be noted.  
 
26. Cross Lane Experimental No Entry  
 
Further to minute 7 (17.06.2009), Members were updated on the experimental ‘No Entry’ at 
Cross Lane East, Gravesend. 
 
The Board considered the options investigated by Kent Highway Services and noted that to 
make the road fully one-way in either direction a form of traffic calming would be required to 
help reduce speeds. Before any traffic management measures are implemented the views of 
the emergency services were sought. 
 
The emergency services stated their comments and the only viable option is to make the ‘No 
Entry’ permanent. Kent Highway Services consider this option to be the most affordable and 
the best compromise. 
 
Whilst some shopkeepers at the Echo Square end of Cross Lane have said they would 
prefer the road to be either fully two-way or one-way westbound, some benefit would be 
given to them by legalising parking along the majority of their shop frontages. 
 
Kent Highway Services advised the Board that if the No Entry is removed (allowing two-way 
traffic) there would be congestion in Cross Lane at the junction with Singlewell Road. This is 
because the westbound traffic queue at the signals can extend to combine with residents 

Page 2



CommitteeName  9.09.2009 

3 

parking to block the road to eastbound traffic. Local residents have pointed out that this 
occurred after the signals were originally commissioned.  
 
It was noted that the Experimental Order expires at the end of February 2010 and if the ‘No 
Entry’ was to be made permanent a Permanent Traffic Regulation Order would need to be 
drawn up and advertised so that it can come into force before the end of February 2010. 
 
The Board expressed concern of the impact that a permanent ‘No Entry’ would have on the 
trade of the shops at Echo Square and the affects of the displaced traffic using roads within 
the vicinity. 
  
 Resolved that  
 

(1) there be a period of reflection to allow wider consultation with the 
shopkeepers at Echo Square and residents in the roads which have been 
affected by the No Entry and displaced traffic; 

 
(2) the Chairman liaises with Kent Highway Services in respect of the residents 

to be consulted; 
 
(3) a report be submitted to the next meeting of the Joint Transportation Board. 

 
Note:  (1) Cllrs Greta Goatley and Michael Wenban spoke with leave of the Chairman 

 on this item.  
 
 (2) Cllr Jane Cribbon requested that it be recorded that she voted against the 

 proposals contained in the resolution. 
 
27. St Mark's Avenue (Northfleet) traffic issues  
 
Further to minute 9 (17.06.2009), the Board was updated on the situation regarding possible 
one-way working in St Mark’s Avenue, Northfleet. Kent Highway Services hosted a meeting 
with local Members in Northfleet to look at the impacts of various configurations of one-way 
working on St Mark’s Avenue and neighbouring roads.  
 
The Members present specified that the one-way working they favoured was making St 
Mark’s Avenue one-way from London Road to Cremorne Road with Marina Drive being 
made No Entry at its southern end and Beresford Road remaining two-way.  In order to 
understand the implications of the different one-way traffic proposals, the characteristics of 
St Marks Avenue (eastern and western section), Beresford Road and Marina Drive were 
reviewed. 
 
The accident data obtained from the police during the last five years showed two personal 
injury crashes on St Mark’s Avenue east of Cremorne Road, though one of these appears to 
be a parking incident not related to the matter in hand. There were no personal injury 
crashes recorded on Beresford Road, St Mark’s Avenue (west of Cremorne Road) and in the 
main length of Marina Drive however three crashes were recorded at the junction of Marina 
Drive and London Road. 
 
Kent Highway Services investigated three configurations of one-way working on St Mark’s 
Avenue and the surrounding streets as follows:- 
 

Page 3



CommitteeName  9.09.2009 

4 

• one-way working on St Mark’s Avenue east of Cremorne Road; 
• one-way working on St Mark’s Avenue, Beresford Road and Marina Drive; 
• one-way working on St Mark’s Avenue east of Cremorne Road, plus No Entry at 

south end of Marina Drive. 
 
Further to the investigations carried out, Members were advised that due to the adverse 
impacts Kent Highway Services would not advocate a one-way system on St Mark’s Avenue. 
It was noted that any one-way system on St Mark’s Avenue would be unlikely to meet the 
criteria for Integrated Transport Plan funding and if Members were to progress this scheme 
any further it would need to be under the Members’ Highways Fund protocol or they would 
need to discuss this proposal with County Councillor Nick Chard, Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Highways and Waste.  
 
Kent Highway Services advised members that since the report was written they have 
received consultation comments from the police. These advise that any one-way system 
would really have to cover the whole area and include traffic calming. 
 
Members were informed that due to traffic management and safety issues Kent Highway 
Services support the proposal for 15 metres of double yellow lines to be applied to St Mark’s 
Avenue on the inside of the bend outside house number 18.  
 
The Board expressed disappointment that this issue has been ongoing for two years and 
agreed that a decision needs to be made as there has been significant local support 
regarding St Mark’s Avenue. It was suggested that an experimental one-way system is 
implemented from London Road to Cremorne Road.  
 

Resolved that  
 

(1) an experimental one-way system from London Road to Cremorne Road be 
implemented and that this issue is raised with County Councillor Nick Chard, 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Highways and Waste; 

 
(2) approximately 15 metres of double yellow lines be applied to St Mark’s 

Avenue on the inside of the bend outside house number 18.  
 
Note: Cllr Tanmanjeet Singh Dhesi spoke with leave of the Chairman on this item. 
 
28. Proposed Highway and Transportation Schemes 2010/11  
 
Further to minute 11 (17.06.2009), Members were advised of the highway and transportation 
schemes in Gravesham which the County Council expects to fund during 2010/2011. 
 
Members were informed of the seventeen schemes that had been shortlisted for potential 
inclusion in the County’s 2010/2011 capital programme and were advised of the opportunity 
to allocate their top eight priority schemes bonus points. Since June 2009 these schemes 
have been developed further with greater focus being placed on the budget that is likely to 
be allocated in 2010/2011 to fund them.  
 
The outcome of the budget review will have a significant impact on the number of schemes 
that can be built. For that reason the Board was informed that it would be premature for them 
to be offered the opportunity of increasing the priority of the shortlisted schemes. 
 

Page 4



CommitteeName  9.09.2009 

5 

The report detailed the schemes that were likely to be included in the County Council’s 
2010/2011 capital programme subject to the budget settlement, due in February 2010, and 
any priority-boosting by the Board and also the schemes that even with priority-boosting are 
very unlikely to pass the priority threshold to secure funding. 
 

Resolved that the report be noted.  
 
29. Waiting Restrictions, Various Locations  
 
The Board was informed of the comments and objections to the waiting restrictions at 
various locations throughout the Borough. 
 
A public notice confirming waiting restrictions which were proposed at the following locations 
had been open for comment between 13 July and 3 August 2009. 
 
Grove Road, Northfleet  Elmfield Close, Gravesend 
Arthur Street, Gravesend  Clifton Grove, Gravesend 
Brandon Street, Gravesend  Rochester Road, Gravesend 
Oxford Close, Gravesend  Forge Lane, Gravesend 
Terrence Close, Gravesend   
Access Road to Vicarage Land and Miller Road, Gravesend 
 
No objections were received for the proposals in respect of:- 
 
Elmfield Close , Gravesend  Rochester Road, Gravesend 
Oxford Close, Gravesend  Forge Lane, Gravesend 
Terrence Close, Gravesend  
Access Road to Vicarage Land and Miller Road, Gravesend 
 
Objections were received in respect of the proposals for:- 
 
Grove Road, Northfleet  Arthur Street, Gravesend 
Clifton Grove, Gravesend  Brandon Street, Gravesend 
 
The report detailed the new proposed restrictions and informed Members of the 
recommended changes at the locations where objections have been received. 
 
Concern was expressed at the proposed waiting restrictions for Arthur Street, Gravesend as 
the businesses in this area will be affected. It was suggested that the yellow lines proposed 
for Arthur Street are reduced to allow some parking for people using the shops. 
 

Resolved that Kent Highway Services reduce the yellow lines on Arthur Street, 
Gravesend and the report be noted.  

 
Note: Cllr Makhan Singh spoke with leave of the Chairman on this item. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



CommitteeName  9.09.2009 

6 

30. Manor Road, Gravesend  
 
Further to minute 13 (17.06.2009), Members were updated on the situation regarding Manor 
Road, Gravesend. 
 
The Director (Business) had contacted North West Kent Police and had discussed this 
matter with PC Steve Ridley from the North Kent Traffic Management Unit, who has 
previously been involved in discussions in respect of Manor Road, Gravesend.  
 
PC Ridley and his team, in the past, have carried out enforcement at Manor Road and 
issued Fixed Penalty Notices to drivers using this route unlawfully.  
 
The Board was advised that PC Ridley discussed the situation with Inspector Coltham and 
they are supportive of finding a solution to the problem. It was noted that the Police are 
willing to undertake periods of enforcement and any officers who were in the vicinity and 
witnessed offences at the time of their commission would be expected to assess the 
situation and process any such offences using their own judgement and discretion.  
 
The Board was advised that if the Police are to undertake periods of enforcement this would 
not solve the problem as, when there was not a Police presence, vehicles will continue to 
use this route. It was suggested that the road either be blocked off at one end or have the 
restrictions removed completely and traffic be permitted to use the route legally. 
 
Kent County Council’s Highways Advisory Board agreed with its officers’ view that there are 
no overriding safety issues. Changing the access to Manor Road could not be funded from 
the capital programme because it is not assessed as a high priority scheme.  
 
The Board expressed concern over the danger caused to pedestrians using Manor Road. It 
was suggested that a permanent solution be implemented by the introduction of planters, a 
bollard, etc to deter drivers egressing the road illegally. 
 

Resolved that 
 

(1) as a matter of urgency, a concentrated period of enforcement be carried out 
by the Police to deter drivers egressing the road illegally; 

 
(2) the Director (Business) liaise with Kent Highway Services in respect of the 

installation for planters, a bollard, etc; 
 

(3) Kent Police provide Members of the Board with details of the Fixed Penalty 
Notices which were issued in the past to drivers using this route unlawfully.  

 
Note: Cllr Michael Wenban spoke with leave of the Chairman on this item.  
 
31. Reports from Kent County Council's Environment, Highways and Waste 
 Policy Overview Committee  
 
The following reports which have been submitted to Kent County Council’s Environment, 
Highways and Waste Policy Overview Committee were submitted to Members of the Joint 
Transportation Board for information:- 
 
 

Page 6



CommitteeName  9.09.2009 

7 

1. Highway Adoptions – Cold Case Projects 
2. Circular Roads 1/2006 Setting Local Speed Limits 

 
Concern was expressed that London Road, Northfleet would need to wait for a speed limit 
review; it was felt that the speed limit should be reduced to 30 mph. 
 

Resolved that the reports be noted. 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 10.00 pm 
 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
 

Wednesday, 30 September 2009    7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Leslie Hills (Chairman) 
County Cllr Michael Snelling (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors: William Dyke 

Sara Langdale 
Leslie Christie (KCC) 
John Cubitt (KCC) 
Bryan Sweetland (KCC) 
 

 
Note:  Cllr Bronwen McGarrity was also in attendance. 
 
Also in attendance: 
 
Ms L Hornby, Shorne Parish Council 
 
Paul Gibbons  Service Manager (Parking & Amenities) 
Rob Bright   Senior Engineer (Development) 
Carlie Plowman Committee & Scrutiny Assistant  

 

 
32. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from County Cllr Harold Craske and Cllr Jane Cribbon.  
 
33. Declarations of Interest 
 
County Cllr John Cubitt declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 4 – Proposed 
Controlled Parking Zone. County Cllr Cubitt lives near the area affected by the proposals. 
 
34. Proposed Controlled Parking Zone  
 
Further to minute 14 (17.06.2009), the Board was informed of the responses received to the 
consultation of the proposed controlled parking zone order in Gravesend. 
 
To inform as many people as possible and to obtain a spectrum of views, various methods of 
advertisement were carried out inviting comments from the public and local businesses on 
the proposal. 
 
Leaflets had been hand delivered to 2,943 properties and 273 responses were received. 
54% supported the scheme and 46% were against the scheme. A detailed evaluation of the 
responses from each zone was detailed in the report. 
 
 

Page 9



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 30.09.2009 

2 

A number of residents felt that the proposal was a way of the council making money. It was 
noted that any money raised from the issue of permits does not cover the total cost of the 
scheme and the large balance will be met from other budgets.  It was suggested that the 
council should wait and see if a problem occurs and then act, however, this approach could 
lead to a year of misery for residents before the scheme is introduced. Comments from 
residents of a positive nature insisted that there is already a problem with commuter parking 
and the indication is that it will get worse.  
 
Ms L Hornby, Shorne Parish Council, expressed concern on the impact the scheme would 
have on local businesses that are affected by the controlled parking zone. It was stated that 
people visiting local businesses will be unable to park during the restriction however there 
are ample pay and display car parks within the borough that can be used in this situation.  
 
The Board considered the following objections and the recommendations as detailed in the 
report:- 
 

• In zone one a petition from residents in Prospect Place was received. They felt that 
they were too far away from the station to be affected and that they have not 
experienced any problems to date.  The petition is from one road in the zone and of 
the 410 properties in the area they represent only 6% of the total residents notified.  It 
was recommended that this area still be included within the scheme as it is felt that 
the residents may not appreciate the impact from the other areas once the high 
speed link starts to operate. 

 
• In zone six the negative responses were high and were formed mostly from a petition 

that was received from 30 residents covering Havelock Road, Campbell Road, 
Stanbrook Road, Pelham Road and Mayfield Road. The residents felt that they did 
not have an issue with parking during the day and are affected more at evenings and 
weekends. Of the possible 355 properties in the area the petition identified that only 
8% responded and therefore it is not felt that this is sufficient to stop the proposed 
scheme going ahead. 

 
• Letters of concern was received from residents in Windmill Street. The residents wish 

to be included in the scheme and it was suggested that the two hour free bays be 
converted to residents parking.  It was recommended that the area be included in the 
scheme, after the initial scheme has been agreed, in the form of an amendment to 
the order.  This would allow those properties affected to apply for a waiver permit and 
continue to park in the side roads as it is not the councils wish to alter the parking 
habits of residents. 

 
The Board was advised that the Service Manager (Parking & Amenities) and the 
Senior Engineer (Development) would investigate the practicalities of converting the 
two hour free parking bays into residents parking. 

 
• Concern was expressed from the vicar and members of the church in Old Road East. 

The restriction times would have an adverse affect on the clubs and groups that meet 
at the church in the week. It was recommended that permits be issued to the church 
to assist visitors and if required the area be considered, after the main scheme has 
been agreed, as an amendment to the order altering the time that the restriction is in 
force this will not only permit the church to carry out its activities but also enable 
effective enforcement to be carried out to protect residents from all day parkers. 

 

Page 10



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 30.09.2009 

3 

• Correspondence was received from a resident in Darnley Road asking for residents 
parking in this road to assist those on the edge of the scheme or at least to be 
included in the scheme.  It was recommended that this short stretch of road be 
included in the scheme, after the initial scheme has been agreed, in the form of an 
amendment to the order. This will allow those selected residents to obtain waiver 
permits to park in the affected side roads. 

 
Members acknowledged the concerns expressed by the petitioners and those making 
representations. It was suggested that the streets affected by the scheme be monitored by 
officers and any issues raised be reported to the Board within a year from the date when the 
controlled parking zone is implemented.  
 
The Board discussed the merits of the introduction of the controlled parking zone. The 
scheme will safeguard residential parking and stop commuters using roads for free all day 
parking. It was noted that this type of scheme has been implemented in other parts of the 
borough to deal with adverse commuter parking and has been well received by residents 
living in these areas.  
 
Members thanked the Service Manager (Parking & Amenities) for the work he has 
undertaken to date on this item.  
 

Resolved that 
 

(1) following consultation of residents during August 2009, the introduction of the 
controlled parking zone affecting the streets shown in Appendix A to the 
report be agreed; 

 
(2) the objections be noted and members support the recommendations as set 

out in item 4 of the report; 
 

(3) officers monitor the streets affected by the scheme and a report be submitted 
to the Board within a year from the date when the controlled parking zone is 
implemented;  

 
(4) should any anomalies come to light during the life of the scheme, that officers 

be authorised, where appropriate, to make the necessary amendments to the 
Order to ensure the controlled parking zone operates correctly; 

 
(5) the Service Manager (Parking & Amenities) be authorised to issue additional 

permits where applicable; 
 

(6) the petitioners and those making representations be advised of the proposed 
action. 

 
Note: (1) Cllr Bronwen McGarrity spoke with leave of the Chairman on this item. 
 

(2) Ms Leanne Hornby, Shorne Parish Council, spoke under the terms of the 
agreement. 

 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8.48 pm 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Speed Limit Review – Process and Programme 
 
A presentation by Kirstie Horton – Project Manager 
(Jacobs – Kent Highway Services) 
 
Topics covered:- 
 

• Circular 1/2006 – definitions and aim 
• The demonstration area 
• Area 1 
• Area 2 
• Area 3 
• The review team – how the review is carried out 
• Speed limit characteristics for A and B roads 
• The report 
• The programme up to 2014 

 
 

Agenda Item 5Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16th December 2009 

Reporting officer: Head of Countywide Improvements, Kent Highway Services 

Subject: Highway and Transportation Schemes Progress Report – 
2009/10 

Purpose and summary of report:  

This report advises members of the progress of highway and transportation schemes in 
Gravesham. 
 

Recommendations: For information and comment. 

 

1. Background and Discussion. 

1.1 For each programmed and funded highway improvement scheme in Gravesham, 
Appendix 1 summarises progress to date and anticipated progress prior to the 
next meeting of this Board. 

1.2 Following successful drives for efficiency in KCC, it has proved possible to make 
sufficient savings to afford to resurface some additional roads in Gravesham.  
Green Lane in Meopham, Lower Rd in Northfleet and Alanbrooke, St Francis 
Avenue St Johns Road and Barr Rd in Gravesend were resurfaced in November.  
Two more roads (parts of Wrotham Road and Springhead Road will be resurfaced 
in the new year, as describer in Appendix 1). 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: The background papers pertaining to this report are 
held on the Kent Highway Services files. 

 

All requests to inspect the above documents MUST be directed in the first instance to 
the Committee Section of the Democratic Services Department 

 

Contact Officers:  See last column in Appendix 1 (tel 08458 247 800). 

 

Agenda Item 6Page 15



 

Highway and Transportation Scheme Progress Report – 2009/10:  APPENDIX 1 
 

 
KHS 
Ref 

 

 
Location 

 
Description of Works 

 
Current Progress 

 
Anticipated Actions for 

next 3 months 
(Prior to next JTB) 

 

O
rig

in
al

 
al

lo
ca

tio
n 

20
09

 - 
10

 

Fo
re

ca
st

  O
ut

-
tu

rn
 

20
09

 ---
 1

0 Kent Highway 
Services 
Contact 

08458 247800 

 
07-ITS-
GR-X1 
 

London Road 
Northfleet 

drainage improvements 
to footway outside Post 
Office 

Works were scheduled to 
have been completed on 30 
November 

None --- this job will no longer 
be reported to this Board 

£0K £9K 
Andy 

Padgham 

08-ITS-
GR-03 

Wellington Street / 
Peacock Street, 
Gravesend 

Reverse direction of 
one-way traffic in both 
roads 

EdF works are now complete 
and work is ready to start 

to reduce disruption, actual 
traffic reversal has been 
delayed until January 2010 

£8K £11K Geoff Dance 

 
09-ITS-
GR-03 

 

Various Roads, 
Boroughwide 

New pram ramps and 
other footway improve-
ments to improve 
mobility 

 
 
Works are scheduled to have 
been completed on 4 
December 2009 
 

None--- this job will no longer 
be reported to this Board 

£50K £25K Helen Cobby 

1)  traffic light 
optimisation 

order placed with PIPS 
Technology for automatic 
number-plate recognition 
(ANPR) cameras 

ANPR cameras to be 
installed in January 2010  

 
 
 
 

09-ITS-
GR-04 

 
 
 
 

Town Centre 
Gravesend  
 
Urban traffic 
management 
control system 
improvements:  

 
 2)  link the Traffic 

Management Centre to 
Gravesham Borough 
Council's CCTV room 

 

Memorandum of understanding 
(MoU) between Gravesham 
and Kent is in 1st draft stage 

a) KCC and GBC officers to 
agree MoU terms and  
b)  KCC and GBC to procure 
installation of 
communications link 

£125K £125K Sue Westwood 

P
age 16



 

 
KHS 
Ref 

 

 
Location 

 
Description of Works 

 
Current Progress 

 
Anticipated Actions for 

next 3 months 
(Prior to next JTB) 

 

O
rig

in
al

 
al

lo
ca

tio
n 

20
09

 - 
10

 

Fo
re

ca
st

  O
ut

-
tu

rn
 

20
09

 ---
 1

0 Kent Highway 
Services 
Contact 

08458 247800 

 
 

09-ITS-
GR-05 

 
 

Wrotham Road, 
Meopham & 
Istead Rise 

 
Traffic signs and new 
speed limits to better 
manage speed and 
traffic management 
 

Speed limit changes have 
been advertised and minor 
modifications made to detailed 
design 1st phase of traffic sign 
improvements 

Main tranche of traffic sign 
improvements due February 
2010 (subject to police 
approval of speed limit 
boundaries) 

£50K £55K Julian Cook 

09-ITS-
GR-X1 

Sole Street 

 
Reduce hazards for  
pedestrians walking over 
railway bridge  
Scheme added Sept 
2009: 
 

 
Interim measures to reinstate 
safer pedestrian area on bridge 
were carried out in October  
 

Scheme to provide proper 
footway on bridge will be 
developed as a contender for 
funding as part of the 2010-
11 local transport plan 

£0 £3K Helen Cobby 

 
 
09-CW-
GR-X1 
 
 

Wrotham Road 

Gravesend 

Resurface carriageway 
between (i)The Fairway 
to Old Road West and 
(ii) Old Road West to 
Lord Street 

Work programmed 
To be resurfaced between 4 
and 13 of January 2010 

£0  Neil Tree 

09-CW-
GR-X2 

Springhead Road, 
Northfleet 

Railway bridge (York 
Road) to The Hill 

 
Work programmed 
 

To be resurfaced on 1 and 2 
February 2010 

£0  Neil Tree 

 

P
age 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16th December 2009  

Reporting officer: Head of Transport and Development 

Subject: Cross Lane East Experimental No Entry 

Purpose and summary of report:  

This report is to inform Members of the results of the recent public consultation into the Cross 
Lane East Experimental No Entry and to recommend the way forward.  
 

Recommendations: 

Members are asked to support the proposal to keep the No Entry, make a permanent Traffic 
Regulation Order for the No Entry and to implement a permanent scheme when funds can be 
secured either from the LTP or from elsewhere 
 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Reports were submitted to the meetings of this Board in September 2008, and 
March, June and September 2009.  At the September meeting Members agreed 
that KHS should carry out consultation with residents and businesses in the area, 
(the consultation area to be agreed with the chairman of the Board), and report the 
results back to this meeting.  Figure 1 shows the agreed area for consultation.  

2. Method of Consultation  

2.1 Reply-paid consultation letters, together with an introductory letter from Councillor 
Bryan Sweetland, were hand delivered to the 1617 households/businesses in the 
consultation area on Wednesday 28th October.  Replies were accepted up until 
26th November.  A copy of the consultation letter is given as Appendix 1.      

2.2 The questionnaire asked simply whether people were ‘For the Scheme to keep the 
closure’, ‘Against the Scheme’ or ‘Neither For nor Against it’.  People were also 
asked for their comments. 

 

Agenda Item 7Page 19



2 

3. Results of Consultation.  

3.1 Table 1 gives a summary of the responses and Table 2 gives a summary of the 
main comments made.  Comments from the Gravesend East Neighbourhood 
Forum held on 2nd December will be given verbally at the meeting.  

3.2 Of the 1617 questionnaires delivered, 352 were returned which is just under 22% 
compared to the 20% expected with this type of survey.  Of these, 65% wanted 
the closure to be made permanent compared to 24% who didn’t and 11 % who 
were not concerned either way.  The main comments made on the questionnaires 
were that the scheme has indeed remedied conflicts; going on to say that there 
were now no accidents, reduced traffic, no damage to parked cars, it was safer for 
children in Cross Lane, and reduced noise there.  Many non residents of Cross 
Lane but users of that route were also appreciative of the reduced traffic conflicts.   

3.3 There was a higher percentage of questionnaires returned from the households 
and business in Cross Lane East and Echo Square and Cross Lane West; being 
33% (54 returns from 164 households/business).  Of these 47 (87%) were for the 
scheme, 5 (9%) against and 2 (4%) neither for nor against.  3 of the 5 against the 
scheme were shop keepers who were concerned over loss of passing trade but 
one of which would be pleased to see the short term parking permitted outside 
their business at Echo Square.  

3.4 Questionnaires returned from residents and business in the roads having the main 
disbenefit of extra traffic were more evenly viewed than one would expect, 
although one or two were strongly against the proposal and considered residents 
of Cross Lane as being selfish.  Of the 102 households in Old Road East (Echo 
Square to Wrotham Road) there were only 17 questionnaires returned (17%), of 
these 6 (35%) were for the closure, 8 (47%) against and 3 (18%) neither for nor 
against.  The third table in Table 1 gives the returns for the main roads having 
extra traffic as 47.5% for the scheme, 42.5% against and 10 % neither for nor 
against. 

3.5 Replies from other residents/businesses had a majority clearly in favour of 
retaining the No Entry.        

4. Conclusions and Proposed Way Forward    

4.1 There is a clear majority of the people consulted in favour of the No Entry being 
made permanent.  The majority of those who have additional traffic and have to 
suffer the inconvenience of having to travel further appreciate the benefits to the 
traffic flow in Cross Lane outweigh the disbenefits to themselves.  

4.2 Hence, it can be deemed that the Experiment has been successful and the Traffic 
Regulation Order can be made permanent.   It is thus proposed that, subject to 
the agreement of this Board, the Permanent Traffic Regulation Order for the ‘No 
Entry’ be drawn up and advertised after Christmas so that it can come into force 
before the Experimental Order expires at the end of February next year.  The 
temporary measures will be kept in place until funding can be secured to 
implement the permanent measures.  Funding will be sought from any 
underspend in this year’s budgets or next year’s LTP unless it can be found from 
an alternative budget or source.   

4.3 Members are asked to endorse the above way forward. 

Page 20



3 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: The background papers relating to this report are held in the 
Kent Highway Services files WC/P4, GR/080 and wT/G/111 

All requests to inspect the above documents MUST be directed in the first instance to the 
Committee Section of the Democratic Services Department 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:    Colin Martin 01622 798428 

Page 21



4 

APPENDIX 1 

Consultation letter 

    Kent Highway Services 
 Doubleday House 
 St Michaels Close 
 Aylesford 
 Kent   ME20 7BU 
  

The Occupier 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dear Sir/Madam,  
 

Contact us 
at:             
Telephone: 
Ask for: 
Our Ref: 
Date:  

   www.kent.gov.uk/highways 
 08458 247 800 
 Colin Martin 
 wT/G/305 
  
27 October 2009 

Consultation on the No Entry from Echo Square into Cross Lane East 
 
The ‘No Entry’ from Echo Square into Cross Lane east was introduced on 1st June 2008 as an 
emergency measure to pre-empt congestion on Cross Lane East when the A2 coast-bound 
off slip was closed at Marling Cross (to enable construction of the new A2 junction).   
 
Residents of Cross Lane east, being pleased with the overall reduction in traffic and removal 
of most of the vehicle conflicts, petitioned for the retention of the ‘No Entry’.   Hence, to enable 
the situation to be tested after the A2 works were completed an Experimental Traffic 
Regulation Order was made which enables the ‘No Entry’ to be retained if necessary up until 
the end of February 2010.  Shopkeepers at Echo Square have been concerned over the loss 
of passing trade and two petitions were raised by them for the removal of the closure, 
nevertheless Members of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board agreed to continue with 
the Experiment.  Unfortunately, on-going major gas main replacement works have made it 
difficult to assess the situation.  Nevertheless, the main pros and cons of the scheme are 
given overleaf.    
   
Could you kindly indicate on the reverse of this letter whether you are ‘for’ or ‘against’, or 
perhaps ‘neither for nor against’ the Experimental Scheme being made permanent.  We 
would also be interested in any comments you wish to make about the proposal.  In order for 
these to be taken into consideration could you please return it in the pre-paid envelope by 
Monday 9th November.   
 
The matter will also be discussed at the next Neighbourhood Forum which is to be held on 
2nd December at 7pm in the school hall of St Joseph’s Convent, 46 Old Road East.  The 
views given at this forum will be taken into consideration together with the returns of the public 
consultation by Councillors of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board at their meeting on 
16 December at the Civic Centre, when a decision will be made as to the retention or removal 
of the ‘No Entry’. 
 
If it is decided that the ‘No Entry’ should be removed then it will be as soon as practically 
possible, which should be before Christmas.  If it is decided to make the ‘No Entry’ 
permanent, then a permanent Order will be made and the temporary measures retained until 
a permanent scheme can be implemented in the New Year. 
 
Yours Faithfully 
 
 
Colin Martin    Transportation Engineer for Kent Thameside 

Page 22



5 

 
Background Information 
 
Various options were looked into for Cross Lane east to give similar traffic reductions as the 
‘No Entry’, however as both the Fire & Rescue and Ambulance services use Cross Lane as 
their route from their stations in Coldharbour Road to access east Gravesend it was not 
possible to make Cross Lane East one-way westbound.  Also, making it completely one-way 
eastbound would require traffic calming to keep speeds down to a safe level.  As traffic 
calming would slow the emergency services' responses unacceptably, this counted out such 
an option.  Hence, the decision to be made is between making the 'No Entry' permanent and 
removing it. 
  
The 'No Entry' has the benefits of aiding the fire and ambulance services, reducing 
congestion at the Singlewell Road traffic signals (relief would only otherwise be achieved by 
extending waiting restrictions which would inconvenience residents and would thus most 
probably not be accepted) and significantly reducing the amount of traffic and conflicts in 
Cross Lane East and West.   A permanent scheme would also enable short term parking to 
take place outside the shops at the Echo Square end of Cross Lane.  
 
These are appreciable benefits but it cannot be ignored that the traffic which would have 
used Cross Lane east in a westerly direction (am peak hour typically 220 vehicles, evening 
peak 165 vehicles) has to go somewhere and travel slightly further and take longer to make 
their journey.  The displaced traffic is spread over several routes and is difficult to quantify 
due to a lack of 'before' counts.   Local residents and shopkeepers in and adjacent to Cross 
Lane are inconvenienced by having to take circuitous routes to get home when approaching 
from the east, whilst other residents have extra passing traffic.  
 
 
Questionnaire 
 
Please tick one of the following which best reflects your views:  
 
 
 For the Scheme    Against the Scheme          Neither for nor Against the Scheme 

 
 
 
  Name: 
 
 
  Address: 
 
 
   I wish to make the following comments: 

   

Page 23



6 

 

 
TABLE  1 

Summary of Questionnaire Responses 
 
 

 Overall Summary of Survey Area 
 

 Households/ 
Businesses 

Questionnaires 
returned 

For 
Closure 

Against 
Closure 

Neither For 
nor Against 

      
Overall Total 1617 352 230 85 37 
  22 % 65 % 24 % 11 % 

 
 
 
 
 
Roads having Main Benefit of Reduced Traffic  
 

Road Households/ 
Businesses 

Questionnaires 
returned 

For 
Closure 

Against 
Closure 

Neither For 
nor Against 

Cross Lane East & Echo Sq 103 40 36 3 1 
Cross Lane West 61 14 11 2 1 
      
Total 164 54 47 5 2 
  33 % 87 % 9 % 4 % 

 
 
 
 
Roads having Main Disbenefit of Extra Traffic  
 

Road Households/ 
Businesses 

Questionnaires 
returned 

For 
Closure 

Against 
Closure 

Neither For 
nor Against 

Old Rd East (Echo Square to 
Singlewell Road) 

30 5 1 4 - 

Old Road West (Singlewell 
Rd to Wrotham Road) 

72 12 5 4 3 

Wrotham Road 
(Old Road to Cross Lane) 

92 9 4 4 1 

Singlewell Rd  
(Old Road to Cross Lane) 

54 10 6 3 1 

Portland Avenue  
(Sun Lane to Central Ave) 

54 17 9 7 1 

Leith Park Road 30 6 3 3 - 
Spring Grove & Spire Close 54 12 6 6 - 
Parrock Road 
(Echo Sq to Leith Park Rd) 

19 9 4 3 2 

      
Total 405 80 38 34 8 
  20 % 47.5 % 42.5 % 10 % 

 

Page 24



7 

 
 
 
Roads having Some Disbenefit from Extra Traffic 
 

Road Households/ 
Businesses 

Questionnaires 
returned 

For 
Closure 

Against 
Closure 

Neither For 
nor Against 

Ferndale Road  
(Sun Lane to Central Ave) 

50 11 9 2 - 

Ferndale Road 
(Centrl Av to Singlewell Rd) 

36 8 7 - 1 

Sun Lane 
(Echo Sq to Ferndale Road) 

43 10 5 3 2 

Central Avenue (Cross Lane 
to Ferndale Road) 

11 2 2 - - 

Hillingdon Road 64 13 9 3 1 
Wrotham Rd 
(Cross Lne to Hillingdon Rd) 

14 2 2 - - 

Singlewell Road 
(Cross Lne to Hillingdon Rd) 

87 16 12 1 3 

Devonshire Road 28 8 7 1 - 
      
Total 333 70 53 10 7 
  21 % 76 % 14 % 10 % 

 
 
 
Roads having Inconvenience of Extra Distance to Travel 

 
Road Households/ 

Businesses 
Questionnaires 

returned 
For 

Closure 
Against 
Closure 

Neither For 
nor Against 

Old Road East 
(Echo Sq to Turnstones) 

73 18 13 4 1 

The Yews and Hillside Drive 26 5 2 3 - 
The Parrock & Old Manr Dv 11 1 - 1 - 
Whitehill Road 
(Echo Sq to Canterbury Rd) 

38 15 7 7 1 

St Mary’s  Close 10 5 3 2 - 
New House Lane  
(Wrotham Rd to Haynes rd) 

62 9 6 1 2 

Portland Avenue (west) 48 9 7 1 1 
Alfred Road and Mead Road 103 14 8 4 2 
Park Rd and Leigh Rd 44 7 2 4 1 
Woodfield Avenue 82 11 8 2 1 
Pinnocks Av, Trosley Av & 
St Thomas’s Avenue 

79 10 7 - 3 

Glen View 139 30 23 3 4 
No address given  14 6 4 4 
      
Total 715 148 92 36 20 
  21 % 62 % 24 % 14 % 

 

 

Page 25



8 

 
 

TABLE 2 
Main Comments Made 

 
 
 
 

Number   
Making 
Comment 
 

For or Against 
Scheme 

Comment 

59 For Agree and confirm that scheme has remedied conflicts.  Many  
comments going on to say ‘no accidents, reduced traffic, no 
damage to parked cars, safer for children, reduced noise’ 

14 For Scheme should benefit shopkeepers with legal parking 
13  For Central Avenue/Devonshire Rd/Cross Lane junction safer now 

there is less traffic 
13 Against Road required two-way for benefit of shops 
13 For Scheme makes it easier to cross Cross Lane and safer for 

pedestrians 
12 For Emergency vehicles not being held up now 
10 Against More traffic in Old Rd East and West.  Many comments going on to 

say ‘more congestion, reduced property values, increased danger 
to nursery school, more difficult to get out of drive’ 

9 Both Need to stop people ignoring the No Entry signs 
7 For Singlewell Road Junction works better with scheme 
7 Against Instead of scheme, need to restrict parking in Cross Lane East & 

West to ease traffic flow 
7 Against Portland Avenue now used as rat run – more pot holes, faster 

traffic, concerned over safety of children 
7 Against Scheme benefits Cross Lane residents only – selfish  
6 For If road reopened then want restriction for lorries and coaches 
6  Want lorry ban as well as scheme 
5 Against More traffic at Prince of Orange junction – more congestion & 

likelihood of more accidents 
5 Against Singlewell Rd (Prince of Orange to Hammonds Corner) busier with 

scheme 
5  Want Cross Lane made properly one-way 
5 Both Appreciative of consultation 
4 Against Devonshire Road used as a rat-run 
4 Against More Traffic in Sun Lane 
4 For Accept slightly longer journey for safety benefits 

      
 

 

 

 

Page 26



Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16 December 2009 

Reporting officer: Director (Business) 

Subject: Manor Road, Gravesend 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To advise Members of further options available to address concerns. 

Recommendations: 

If Members are minded to pursue a scheme to install an un-manned gate at the western end 
of Manor Road, that the Director (Business) be requested, in consultation with Kent Highway 
Services’ officers, to establish costs, processes and a timetable for implementation for 
discussion with the Chairman/Vice Chairman and to progress further as instructed. 
 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Board has received a number of reports on this subject, the most recent 
being on 9 September 2009, when Members resolved that: 

(1) as a matter of urgency, a concentrated period of enforcement be carried out 
by the Police to deter drivers egressing the road illegally; 

(2) the Director (Business) liaise with Kent Highway Services in respect of the 
installation for planters, a bollard, etc; 

(3) Kent Police provide Members of the Board with details of the Fixed Penalty 
Notices which were issued in the past to drivers using this route unlawfully. 

 

2. Enforcement Action Since September 2009 

2.1 A number of officers have spent time enforcing the restrictions, with specific, 
recent targeted action occurring on 23, 26 and 28 October and 11 November.  The 
results of this action were as follows: 

• 29 x fixed penalty tickets issued 
• 2 x no insurance 
• 1 x driving other than in accordance with a driving licence 
• 2 x vehicles seized 

Agenda Item 8Page 29



2 

• There were a considerable number of verbal warnings issued due to the 
volume of vehicles breaching this restriction which, on one occasion, caused 
traffic jams on the one-way system. 

2.2 Despite this action, drivers are still going through the restriction without concern 
and the Police will continue to enforce it for a while.  However, it is not considered 
that the sole response should be from the Police as the data regarding danger 
and safety is insufficient to support such a response. 

 

3. Liaison with Kent Highway Services 

3.1 The matter has been raised in a letter to County Cllr Nick Chard and discussed 
further within KCC.  As a result, the County Council is prepared to pursue the idea 
of an un-manned gate further on the understanding that: 

(a) the detailed design will be subject to an independent safety audit; 

(b) GBC indemnifies KCC against any claims arising from the erection of the 
gate (possibly by way of a formal licence agreement); and 

(c) if there are serious concerns regarding the safety of the gate, KCC also 
wishes to reserve the right to instruct GBC to remove it. 

3.2 The cost of taking this work forward would also be the responsibility of the 
Borough Council and, whilst a sum of £12,000 exists for this purpose within the 
Council’s capital programme, this is a somewhat dated ‘guesstimate’ of cost that 
would need to be revisited and, if necessary, GBC Cabinet requested to provide 
for additional funding. 

 

4. Police Enforcement Action Prior to September 2009 

4.1 Data is available only back to 2002 and, in that time, a total of 67 penalty notices 
were issued but that's not to say that others have not been issued in a different 
road for the same offence, i.e. they may have been issued when the vehicle had 
moved out into Parrock Street.  Also, warnings are not recorded. 

 

5. Financial issues 

5.1 As stated in para. 5.2, it will be necessary to revisit the estimate of cost for 
developing and delivering the scheme, given that it is some years since this figure 
was provided by Gravesham’s former Engineering Services Manager. 

5.2 In addition to the above, there will be ongoing maintenance and repair costs which 
would also fall to Gravesham’s revenue budgets.  The cost of general oiling of 
hinges and repainting will be minimal but, by way of indication, the cost of 
repairing the adjacent gate at the southern end of the Windmill Street 
pedestrianised area when damaged by a vehicle was in the region of £700.  That 
said, this has only happened once and, through CCTV, it was possible to identify 
the culprit and make a claim. 

 

Page 30



3 

6. Risk 

6.1 It is clear, with reference to para. 3.1, that risks exist if Members are minded to 
pursue installation of the gate: 

(a) the design may fail the independent safety audit; and 

(b) if there are serious concerns regarding the safety of the gate, KCC may 
instruct GBC to remove it. 

6.2 In addition to the capital cost issues mention above, as always there remains a 
risk that tenders received may exceed estimates. 

 

7. Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

7.1 Unauthorised access to Manor Road is a moving traffic offence, enforceable by 
the Police and, whilst the KCC does not consider there to be a safety risk 
sufficient to warrant action, the level of traffic movement in this narrow stretch of 
highway and uncertainty surrounding its use will inevitably create a degree of 
concern from a community safety perspective. 

 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16th December 2009 

Reporting officer : Director (Business) 

Subject: Footway and Verge Parking – Hall Road, Springhead 
Road and Old Road East 

Purpose and summary of report: 

To update Members on work undertaken to consider alternative schemes to a total ban on 
footway and verge parking in the above roads. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Members approve the proposals put forward for further design work and consultation. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 An experimental Order was introduced in February 2009 to ban footway 
parking at a number of sites around the Borough.  The Order runs for an 
initial period of 18 months, following which the Council may resolve to make 
it permanent.    The initial feeling is that the scheme has been successful at 
the sites where the prohibitions have been introduced, but a full review is 
planned for your meeting in March 2010. 

1.2 At its meeting in June this year, the Board considered three roads which 
had been included in the original list of sites but had been taken out owing 
to opposition from residents and physical constraints.  The Board appointed 
a sub group of four Members to consider alternative measures which could 
be introduced in these roads comprising Councillors Hills, Christie, Craske 
and Cubitt.  This sub group met in September.    

1.3 Following these discussions, officers have examined the use of various 
traffic regulation solutions to apply to each of these roads which are now 
discussed – relevant drawings will be available at the meeting. 

2. HALL ROAD  

2.1 This is a major route into town which is heavily trafficked for much of the 
day.  There are houses (mainly semi detached) along the north west side 
set back from the road by a wide grass verge and footway – more than half 
of which have on-plot parking spaces which are accessed by propertly 
constructed driveways crossing the verge   

Agenda Item 9Page 33



2 

2.2 The south west side of the Hall Road is the frontage to the Northfleet Girls’ 
School.  The extent of the adopted public highway covers the entire road 
including the verges and footways. 

2.3 The principal parking issues in Hall Road relate to the manner in which 
residents parking overspills from the driveways onto the linkages across the 
public verge and often driving across the verge.  This is unsightly and 
causes damage to the mown grassed area. The use of bollards to protect 
these areas is considered too costly and would, in any event, not be entirely 
effective. 

2.4 In this case, there is not considered to be a problem with obstruction of 
pedestrian routes.  Footways along Hall Road, those leading to crossing 
points and to the school are not generally affected by footway parking. 

2.5 It is evident that a total ban on verge parking in this area could have the 
effect of displacing parking into the main carriageway (which is currently 
unrestricted) or into the adjoing roads such at Mitchell Avenue and Gwynn 
Road which are already heavily congested with on street parking.  Parking 
in the carriageway of Hall Road would not be acceptable in view of the 
obstructions and delays which would result to moving traffic. 

2.6 A double yellow line (no waiting at any time) restriction would effectively 
prohibit all parking in the road including the verge and the footways.  In this 
case, it is felt that the overspill parking onto driveway linkages crossing the 
verge, that is properly paved areas, can be tolerated.  The Traffic Order 
could be worded, signed and enforced in such a way that parking on 
grassed areas would be illegal but parking on the paved areas would 
remain exempt. 

3. SPRINGHEAD ROAD 

3.1 This relates to the section of Springhead Road between The Hill and the 
railway bridge which is a busy road with a mixture of terraced and semi-
detached houses fronting the road along both sides.  Only 30% of these 
properties have curtilage parking.  The roadway narrows towards its 
northern end but there is a generous footway along the western side.   

3.2 St Joseph’s Catholic Primary school is located at the southern end of this 
section of road along the east side.  There are restrictions on parking at the 
northern end, near to the Granby Hotel, but the remainder is unrestricted.  
Side roads leading off Springhead Road – Hartfield Place and York Road – 
are heavily parked for much of the day. 

3.3 The problem is the nature of parking half on and half off the footways, 
mainly attributed to residents who have insufficient parking which occurs 
throughout the day but more particularly in the evenings.  This has the 
effect of obstructing the footways for passing pedestrians requiring them to 
step into the road.  The parking problem is much greater at either end of the 
school day when it is compounded by the arrival of parents’ cars. 

3.4 The solution proposed is a combination of all day parking restrictions along 
much of this section, combined with three designated parking bays which 
residents can use without obstruction to moving traffic or to pedestrians.  
This can only be achieved by marking the bays partially crossing the 

Page 34



3 

kerbline.   The position of these bays is dictated by the width of the 
carrigeway and the position of vehicle accesses. 

4. OLD ROAD EAST 

4.1 The section of road under consideration is between its junction with Valley 
Drive and the Lion Roundabout.  It is a busy distributor road with heavy 
traffic throughout the day and it is necessary to maintain two lanes for 
moving traffic.  There are terraced houses along the north side of the road 
with free parking along this kerbline.  Problems occur with obstructive 
footway parking along the south side. 

4.2 The proposal to totally ban footway parking in this area was opposed by the 
residents in view of the lack of alternative parking opportunities on the 
south side of the road.  Hence officers have looked to see if this can be 
alleviated by permitting some parking on this side. 

4.3 Along the western half of this section, fronting Nos 176 to 210, the footway 
is relatively wide and it is possible to park cars safely between the trees 
without unduly obstructing the passage of pedestrians.  However, the scope 
for parking is restricted by the large number of vehicle accesses to 
premises on this side of the road. 

4.4 Eastward of this point, the footway narrows down and it is considered that 
further footway parking would be unsafe for pedestrians.  As the 
carriageway is relatively wide in the section fronting Nos 218 to 232, it is 
proposed to introduce a parking bay in the carriageway.  The remainder of 
the southern side of Old Road East to the pedestrian crossing should be 
subject to no parking either on the kerb or on the footway. 

4.5 This is considered an acceptable compromise to preserve as much parking 
as possible for the benefit of residents, but limiting it to areas where the 
safety of pedestrians and moving traffic will not be adversely affected. 

5. DISCUSSION 

5.1 At each of the three sites, the proposals represent a compromise intended 
to balance the often conflicting needs of residents, pedestrians and other 
road users.  If implemented, the residents may have fewer parking 
opportunities but pedestrians will have clearer paths to negotiate and the 
width of road available to moving vehicles may be somewhat reduced. 

5.2 Further design work and consultation with Kent Highways and Kent Police 
is required before proceeding.   Full consultation of affected residents and 
other road users must be undertaken and Traffic Regulation Orders 
completed prior to implementation. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

6.1 Report to Joint Transportation Board – June 09.  Proposal plans to be 
displayed at meeting. 

6.2 All requests to inspect the above documents MUST be directed in the 
first instance to the Committee Section of the Democratic Services 
Department. 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16 December 2009 

Reporting officer: Service Manager, (Parking and Amenities) 

Subject: Proposed traffic order for yellow lines in the turning head of 
Rose Avenue 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To inform Members of the response to the advertising of the proposed Order for double 
yellow lines in the turning head of Rose Avenue and seek member’s support for the Order to 
be introduced. 

Recommendations: 

Members endorse the recommendations set out in item 3.1 

 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 At a previous joint transportation board meeting a petition was presented requesting restrictions in the 
turning head in Rose Avenue Gravesend.  This was because residents were finding their road blocked 
by cars using the college and also residents were unable to turn their cars around at the end of the 
road and were forced to reverse back up the road. 

1.2 Members of the board agreed to the proposed order for the introduction of double yellow lines be 
advertised. 

2. Consultation 

2.1 The Order to introduce double yellow lines in the turning head of Rose Avenue to provide a safe area 
to turn a vehicle around and exit the road in a safe manner was advertised in the local press and on 
site and the emergency services were informed, as part of the statutory requirement for traffic orders. 

2.2 At the end of the consultation period no objections were received to the proposed Order. 

3. Recommendations 

3.1 That a Traffic Order is made and that the council introduces double yellow lines into the turning head of 
Rose Avenue as highlighted at the previous board meeting. 

4. Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

4.1 Following the decriminalisation of parking enforcement the only consideration in respect of section 17 
is the mitigation of a public nuisance. 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 10Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16 December 2009 

Reporting officer: Transport and Development Manager 

Subject: St. Marks Avenue, Northfleet. 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To advise Members of the proposals for public consultation regarding the 
making of an experimental one way traffic order on St. Marks Avenue from its 
junction with London Road to its junction with Cremorne Road.  

 

Recommendations: 

1. The emergency services , local residents and relevant business interests 
in St. Mark’s Avenue, Beresford Road, Marina Drive, Collington Close, 
Cremorne Road, Beaumont Drive, Vauxhall Close, Ranelagh Gardens be 
informally consultant on the specific proposal to make St. Mark’s Avenue 
from its junction with London Road to its junction with Cremorne Road 
one way southwards. 

2. That subsequently the Joint Board considers the outcome of this 
consultation before making any experimental Traffic Order. 

3. Any experimental one way order be reviewed by the Joint Board after 6 
months of operation. 

4. The cost of the consultation, Order making and traffic signing be 
chargeable to the local Member’s Highway Fund. 

 

 
 

1. Introduction. 

1.1      At the Joint Board meeting on the 9 September 2009 Members resolved that the 
County Council Cabinet Member for Environment, Highways and Waste be 
approached regarding the need for a one way traffic order on St. Marks Avenue. 

Agenda Item 11Page 39



2 

2. Discussion. 

2.1      Members have previously considered various officers reports regarding the 
potential adverse impact of one way order on other adjacent streets including 
Marina Drive and Beresford Road. 

2.2      In their letter dated 21 September 2009 Kent Police confirmed their support for 
double yellow lines on the bend in St. Mark’s Avenue near No.18 where there is a 
traffic conflict point. 

2.3      However, the Police are concerned that a one way system on St. Mark’s Avenue 
would almost certainly lead to increased vehicle speeds and an increased risk of 
crashes particularly involving vulnerable road users. Furthermore they noted that 
visibility at the corner of St. Mark’s Avenue and Beresford Road is poor and this is 
likely to become a conflict point for opposing vehicles merely transferring the 
problem from one location to another.  

2.4      The previous consultation by local County Members was directed to all residents 
in St. Marks Avenue, Beresford Road, Marina Drive, Collington Close, Cremorne 
Road, Beaumont Drive, Vauxhall Close and Ranelagh Gardens and of those that 
responded there were a total of 183 residents in favour and 24 residents against 
of some form of one way system.  

2.5      At that time the consultation letter from the local County Members described the 
proposals as follows: “One possible way is to have St. Marks Avenue one way for 
vehicles entering from London Road to Cremorne Road and St.Marks 
Avenue/Beresford Road being one way from Cremorne Road exiting on to London 
Road. Marina Drive could continue to be two way. We stress the fact that this is 
only one suggestion and if residents feel there is a need for some solution to the 
problem we would ask KCC engineers to consult residents on a formal basis” 

2.6      The County Council Cabinet Member has noted the level of local support for some 
form of one way scheme and the fact the Local County Member is prepared to use 
part of his Members Highway Fund allocation for this purpose. However, in the 
circumstances he considers that it would be appropriate for there to be a further 
round of public consultation on the specific proposal described in the summary to 
this report. 

2.7      If, having given reasonable consideration to the outcome of this further 
consultation, the Joint Board believe that the proposed one way scheme would be 
beneficial to local road safety overall then it is agreed that an experimental order 
be implemented subject to a further review 6 months after implementation. 

 

 

Page 40



3 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

 

All requests to inspect any papers MUST be directed in the first instance to the 
Committee Section of the Democratic Services Department. 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 

Ray Dines, Transport and Development Manager. 

Kent  Highway Services 

 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

REPORT TO: Joint Transportation Board 

DATE: 16th December 2009 

REPORTING OFFICER: Director (Business) 

SUBJECT: Parking Restrictions – Fountain Walk area 

PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT: 

To update members on previous work relating to Fountain Walk, Beresford Road, London 
Road and Marina Drive where residents have expressed concern about parking. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Officers prepare a scheme for consultation to assist parking by residents and improve access 
in each of the above roads. 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Petitions and reports have been brought to this Board in the past concerning the 
difficulty of parking faced by residents in Fountain Walk and nearby streets – 
most recently in June 2004.  At that time there was no clear consensus on a 
course of action other than a section of double yellow lining in Fountain Walk to 
protect the turning head.  

1.2 Further representations have been made recently by the residents association 
of Fountain Walk and the local County Councillor about this continuing problem. 

1.3 Part of the problem relates to the Arriva bus garage in London Road from where 
drivers and staff tend to park their cars for lengthy periods in surrounding streets 
owing to the lack of parking space on site.  The entrance to this garage lies 
directly opposite Fountain Walk and on the corner of Beresford Road. Arriva 
have been consulted on this issue and their response is given below. 

1.4 It is recognised that if any scheme is introduced at Fountain Walk in isolation, 
there is likely to be a knock-on effect in surrounding streets. 

2. DISCUSSION  

2.1 Arriva Southern Counties was written to about the parking problems and has 
given the following response …   

“Due to the way vehicles run out in the morning and then come back in the evening 
and the fact that the depot is operated at near capacity coupled with the other 
activities of our business such as being an MOT station for PCV vehicles it is true that 
there is only a limited number of staff parking within the depot but we have recently 
cleared round the back of the depot and created a large area for staff parking. 

Agenda Item 12Page 43



2 

  
I understand that in the evening when this area at the rear and to the side of the depot 
is free from staff vehicles that local residents make use of it to park some vehicles. 
  
We also issue all staff with staff passes and encourage them to travel to work by bus 
this also should reduce the parking issue. 
  
We have no plans to relocate and should you wish to introduce a residents only 
parking restriction in the area I would have no concerns with you doing this, if you feel 
a meeting would be of use then please let me know” 
 

2.2 Fountain Walk is a T shaped cul de sac serving a Gravesham BC development 
of 95 houses, maisonettes and flats served off the north side of London Road.  
The properties have a limited amount of parking, largely provided communally in 
forecourts and garage blocks.  The road itself is adopted public highway, but 
barely wide enough for parking along one side throughout its length without 
obstruction resulting.  There are parking restrictions at its junction with London 
Road continuing along one side of the north-south section of Fountain Walk.  
Observations show that the road is heavily parked along one side for much of 
the day, but there has been no survey work to establish from where this parking 
demand is coming. 

2.3 The section of London Road to the east of the Arriva Garage, fronting Nos 61 to 
71, has layby parking on street which is not subject to any restriction.  It is 
thought that some of this parking is attributed to Arriva staff.  There are no 
restrictions along the north side of London Road in this vicinity where there is a 
petrol filling station.  To the west of the Garage, there is layby parking serving 
shops on the south side of the road, also currently unrestricted. 

2.4 Beresford Road runs alongside the bus garage and has mainly terraced housing 
with no off road parking.  There is an unmade area behind the garage with 
access off Beresford Road which is used by staff for parking.  The remainder of 
the road is currently unrestricted and heavily parked for most of the day. 

3. PROPOSALS 

3.1 In order to address the parking problems in this area, various schemes can be 
considered which give preference to residents over non residents.   Depending 
on the nature of the road, these may take the form of residents-only parking 
bays (mostly appropriate for Beresford Road and parts of London Road) or a 
controlled parking restriction which may be the preferred option for Fountain 
Walk.  Within each type of zone there would be the option for residents to 
acquire permits to park their vehicles during the times of the restrictions.  Marina 
Drive, where most of the houses have off-road parking does not appear to suffer 
from similar parking problems at the present time. 

3.2 It is recommended that the whole length of Beresford Road and Fountain Walk 
be considered in this regard together with the section of London Road between 
Burnaby Road and Marina Drive.  Any knock-on effects which may affect Marina 
Drive, St Mark Avenue and Burnaby Road should be monitored. 

4. PROCEDURE 

4.1 Further work needs to be carried out before progressing to the stage of a traffic 
regulation order including surveys to indicate the level and type of parking 
followed by the design of an appropriate scheme.  Consultation of the affected 

Page 44



3 

residents will have to be carried out to establish the desire to proceed with these 
restrictions. 

4.2 It is recommended that once this is carried out, a further report be brought to 
this Board outlining the cost implications and seeking Members approval on 
whether to proceed. 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

5.1 Previous reports to Joint Transportation Board; correspondence with Arriva and 
Fountain Walk Residents. 

5.2 All requests to inspect the above documents MUST be directed in the first 
instance to the Committee Section of the Democratic Services Department. 

 

 

 

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 13Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Agenda Item 14Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16th December 2009   

Reporting officer: Head of Transport and Development 

Subject: Gravesend small cycling improvements 

Purpose and summary of report:  

This report seeks Members’ approval for two low-cost improvements to Gravesend’s cycle 
network.  
 

Recommendations: 

 
1. It is recommended that Members agree to proceed to statutory consultation on the 

proposed changes to the Traffic Regulation Order prohibiting traffic from turning right 
from St James Road to Darnley Road, so that cyclists can turn right at this junction. 

 
2. It is recommended that Members endorse the proposal that the footway of Wrotham 

Road between houses 404 and 418 should be redesignated as a segregated-use 
cycle track. 

 
 

 
1. Proposed change to “no right turn” Traffic Regulation Order 

1.1 This proposal is a recommendation in the draft Thameside Walking and Cycling 
Strategy and would help improve cycle access to Gravesend station for residents 
from Northfleet and the west side of Gravesend. 

1.2 The proposal is simply to permit cyclists to turn right from St James Road to 
Darnley Road, by modifying the Traffic Regulation Order that prohibits traffic 
turning right at this junction. 

1.3 The No Right turn from St James Road into Darnley Road was created to stop 
vehicles avoiding the No Right Turn from A226 New Road into Darnley Road. 
Whereas the number of car drivers wanting to make this turn would be sufficient  
to create a nuisance in St James Road, the number of cyclists needing to make 
this manoeuvre will be much fewer. 

1.4 At present cycle users who need to turn right at this junction are required to 
dismount or travel via Lennox Road. The latter is a 320 metre detour and includes 

Agenda Item 15Page 59



2 

an intimidating right-turn into Rathmore Road across the flow of traffic on Darnley 
Road. 

1.5 This change would be a small step towards delivering Gravesham’s Local Plan 
policies on Cycling and on General Policy for Transport, i.e.  

• Policy T0: The Borough Council will seek to achieve…. the most effective use 
of the existing highway network and…better facilities for public transport 
users, pedestrians and cyclists.  

• Policy T11: The Borough Council will encourage the use of cycles, both as a 
means of transport and as a recreational pursuit and, to this end, intends to 
make provision for cycle routes as opportunities arise. 

 

2. Proposed extended cycle path to connect A2 Linear Park to A227 Wrotham Road 

2.1 At the Board meeting on 18th June 2008 Members endorsed a plan for short 
lengths of new cycle path (and associated measures) on A227 Wrotham Road at 
the roundabout junction with Coldharbour Road. 

2.2 The authorised paths are shown in black on the map in Appendix B. The objective 
of the scheme was to provide cycling facilities to connect the A2 Linear Park to the 
cycle lanes on A227 Wrotham Road which extend as far north as St George’s 
School. 

2.3 Kent Highway Services had originally intended the cycle path to continue along 
the footway from house 404 Wrotham Road to house 418 by the petrol station. 
This is shown as a dashed in Appendix B. However, engineers discarded this 
section at an early stage because it was not at that time regarded as essential and 
due to an objection from a resident who lived on this section of path. 

2.4 In the course of detailed design of the authorised paths, the scheme engineer has 
strongly recommended that the discarded proposed cycle path between houses 
404 and 418 should be reinstated into the scheme. This would have the following 
advantages:- 

• It would be easier and safer (e.g. better visibility) for northbound cyclists to 
join the cycle path at house 418 than at house 402. 

• Cyclists currently using this section of Wrotham Road show a preference for 
cycling on the path, and many are likely to ignore any route marked along the 
carriageway. The resident who objected to the proposed scheme was concerned 
that when she reversed her car out of her driveway there was the danger of 
colliding with one of these cyclists.  By providing a segregated cycle path marked 
out adjacent the kerb, drivers emerging from their driveways would have better 
visibility of oncoming cyclists. 

• The A2 linear park is proving popular with family groups and less experienced 
cyclists. An off-carriageway cycle route to the park is more appropriate for this  
type of user. 

Page 60



3 

2.5 When residents were consulted about the proposed cycle path in June 2008, there 
was one objection. The primary concern was the risk of collision between a 
cyclists and a resident reversing out of a driveway. 

2.6 The footway in question between houses 404 and 418 is approximately 4.9 metres 
wide which is much wider than most footways and cycle paths, and provides 
ample room for a segregated-use cycle path. 

2.7 It is recommended that Members endorse the proposal that the footway of 
Wrotham Road between houses 404 and 418 should be redesignated as a 
segregated-use cycle track. 

 

3. Additional information 

3.1 The legal term used to describe a way (constituting or comprised in a Highway) 
over which the public have rights of way on pedal cycles is “Cycle Track”. The 
legal basis for redesignation of all or part of a footway to a cycle track is sections 
65 and 66 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 

4. Appendices 

4.1 Appendix A:   Drawing showing St James Road, Darnley Street and Gravesend 
railway station 

4.2 Appendix B: Plan of proposed extended cycle path to connect A2 Linear Park to 
A227 Wrotham Road. 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None  

All requests to inspect the above documents MUST be directed in the first instance to the 
Committee Section of the Democratic Services Department 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:    Peter Slaughter 01622 798431 

Page 61



4 

                                                              APPENDIX A 

Page 62



5 

                                                              APPENDIX B 

 

        

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Joint Transportation Board 

Date: 16th December 2009  

Reporting officer: Head of Transport and Development 

Subject: Northfleet – Ebbsfleet station pedestrian links 

Purpose and summary of report:  

This report is to inform Members about plans to improve pedestrian links between Northfleet 
and Ebbsfleet station.  
 

Recommendations: 

This report is for information only. 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 As many Members will be aware, pedestrian links between Ebbsfleet station and 
Northfleet are currently inadequate. In particular the routes are unnecessarily 
lengthy, there are no direction signs and there is a lack of dropped kerbs for 
people with mobility problems.  

1.2 The most direct pedestrian route from Ebbsfleet station to Northfleet is via the 
northern station car park and the footway of Thames Way. This is shown as route 
A on the map in Appendix A. 

1.3 Using his route, the distance from Ebbsfleet station to Northfleet station is just 
over 1000 metres, compared with a direct distance of 305 metres “as the crow 
flies.” 

1.4 Anyone with mobility problems is likely to experience problems in Railway Street 
where there is a steep gradient and a lack of dropped kerbs. 

1.5 Between Ebbsfleet station and Thames Way there are additional problems. At the 
present time there is no footway within the northern station car park, and no 
footway out of the car park, so pedestrians need to walk on the carriageway or on 
the grass verge where this is present.  Disabled people in wheelchairs or scooters 
are unable to use this route unless they have some means of opening the car park 
barriers. 

1.6 The issues considered in this report are not only inconvenient for Northfleet 
residents. The lack of proper link between Northfleet and Ebbsfleet stations 

Agenda Item 16Page 65



2 

creates problems for passengers needing to change between trains, for example 
passengers from Bexley, Sidcup, Crayford etc who need to catch a Eurostar 
service. 

 

2. Proposed future link from Northfleet station to Ebbsfleet station 

2.1 The issue of a Northfleet – Ebbsfleet link was raised at the Select Committee 
stage of the Channel Tunnel Link Act in 1995, and at various times since. It is not 
just about linking two railway stations, but also helping rail passengers from the 
west to access Ebbsfleet jobs, and joining the two communities as it is intended to 
be a fully accessible public link. In the current spending round a notional allocation  
of £5m was assigned from the Government’s Community Infrastructure Fund 
(CIF). 

2.2 The Transport Strategy for Ebbsfleet “Station Quarter Northfleet  and Northfleet 
Rise”, prepared for Land Securities in 2008, envisages a  pedestrian / cycle link 
from Ebbsfleet station to Northfleet station taking the straight line route between 
the two stations. This is shown as route B on the map in Appendix A. The majority 
of this route would be across land controlled by Land Securities. The draft Kent 
Route Utilisation Study from Network Rail has identified this as a missing link, 
which opened up the possibility of bidding for funds from them. 

2.3 On the basis of the potential CIF funding, Kent County Council commissioned 
Jacobs to produce a report outlining how this link could cross under or over the 
“North Kent” railway at Northfleet station and connect to Station Road. The new 
link was assumed to be constructed at the same time as the rebuilding of 
Northfleet station. There is a small allocation in the National Station Improvement 
Programme for improving Northfleet station. 

2.4 The Jacobs report estimated that the cost of rebuilding the station and 
constructing a pedestrian underpass from Station Road to Thames Way would be 
in the region of £9 million pounds. The report further estimates that the alternative 
of a bridge would be somewhat more, although this was not analysed in detail 
because it was understood that Land Securities as landowner objected to this 
option and the proximity of the high-level walkway to their proposed development 
at Thames Way. 

2.5 The Homes and Community Agency have now advised that the CIF funds for the 
Thames Gateway are over-programmed and, as the Northfleet scheme was 
ranked as a relatively low priority, it would be very unlikely to receive funding.  

2.6 As there is little realistic chance of finding alternative funding at the present time, 
this scheme is now effectively dormant. 

 

3. Other proposed Northfleet – Ebbsfleet link: Footpath NU7A/3 

3.1 Footpaths NU7A/3 and NU7A/2 form a route from Ebbsfleet Walk to Thames Way, 
passing under the “North Kent” railway line at the entrance to Northfleet Cement 
Works site. This route is narrow and unlit, with several steps and a gradient 
steeper than the maximum acceptable for disabled pedestrians. 

Page 66



3 

3.2 As this path extends only as far as Thames Way it does not at present form a 
useful route to Ebbsfleet station. To use this route to walk from Northfleet station 
to Ebbsfleet station by continuing east along Thames Way and then via A2260 
Ebbsfleet Gateway is more than 1.3 kilometres. 

3.3 When Land Securities build their Ebbsfleet development it has been proposed 
they should construct a new access from Thames Way to the northern station 
entrance, and this would form a convenient link from footpath NU7A/2 to Ebbsfleet 
station. This proposal is shown as route E on the map in Appendix A. 

3.4 There is scope for some small scale improvements to footpath NU7A/3 and 
NU7A/2, for example to provide lighting. This needs to be considered as an issue 
in the current planning applications for developments on the site of Northfleet 
Cement Works. 

 

4. Other proposed Northfleet – Ebbsfleet link: Footpath NU7A/1 

4.1 Footpaths NU7A/1 and NU7A/2 form a route from South Kent Avenue to Thames 
Way at the entrance to the Northfleet Cement Works site. The route crosses the 
“North Kent” railway line on a high level bridge, and south of this crossed the 
sidings on another bridge that has been removed for renovation. KCC has 
requested that the missing bridge is replaced by April 2010 at the latest.     

4.2 This route could form a useful pedestrian link from Northfleet to Ebbsfleet when 
the missing bridge is replaced, provided that the path is upgraded and Land 
Securities construct the new access to the north entrance to Ebbsfleet station. 

 

5. Other Northfleet – Ebbsfleet links: proposed short cut  

5.1 In the short term Land Securities are unlikely to construct the new access to the 
north entrance to Ebbsfleet station, so Kent Highway Services proposed to High 
Speed One (who own the high speed railway stations) that a simple alternative 
would be a short pedestrian link from Thames Way through the eastern station car 
park. This is shown as route F on the map in Appendix A. It has the advantage 
that no bridge would need to be built over the Ebbsfleet stream. However, it is 
understood from High Speed One’s consultants that this proposal is regarded as 
unacceptable as it presents an increased security risk to the cars in the car park. 

 

6. Improvements in the short term 

6.1 As there is little possibility of creating more direct routes in the short term, Kent 
Highway Services is planning to make improvements to the existing pedestrian 
route between Northfleet station and Ebbsfleet station. The changes would 
comprise: 

• Sign posts to show the route from one station to the other 
• Dropped kerbs in Railway Street 
• Dropped kerbs and new footway at the roundabout entrance to Ebbsfleet 

station. 

Page 67



4 

 
6.2 Kent Highway Services have also been liaising with consultants working for High 

Speed One in order to promote better access to Ebbsfleet station. The consultants 
have proposed that High Speed One should consider constructing a footway (or 
shared-use footway / cycle path) around the barriers at the entrance to the station 
car park. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None  

All requests to inspect the above documents MUST be directed in the first instance to the 
Committee Section of the Democratic Services Department 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:    Peter Slaughter 01622 798431 

Page 68



5 

                                                              APPENDIX A 

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes 30 September 2009

	5 A presentation by Kirstie Horton - Speed Limit Review - Process and Programme
	6 Highway and Transportation Schemes Progress Report 2009/10 - report herewith.
	7 Cross Lane East Experimental No Entry - report herewith.
	Appendix

	8 Manor Road, Gravesend - report herewith.
	9 Footway and Verge Parking - Hall Road, Springhead Road and Old Road East - report herewith.
	10 Proposed traffic order for yellow lines in the turning head of Rose Avenue - report herewith.
	11 St. Marks Avenue, Northfleet - report herewith.
	12 Parking Restrictions - Fountain Walk area - report herewith.
	13 Petition, Whitepost Lane - report herewith.
	14 Petition, Harvel Street - report herewith.
	15 Gravesend small cycling improvements - report herewith.
	16 Northfleet - Ebbsfleet station pedestrian links - report herewith.

